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STATEMENT OF THE | SSUES

In DOAH Case No. 02-1421, addressing a survey concl uded on

Cct ober 23, 2001, the issue is whether Respondent Delta Health



Group, doi ng business as Rosewood Manor (Rosewood), viol ated
Rul e 59A-4.1288, Florida Adm nistrative Code and shoul d be
assessed a civil penalty and costs. |In DOAH Case Nos. 02-1905
and 02-4040, addressing the survey of January 22 through January
25, 2002, the issue is also whether Rosewood viol ated Rul e 59A
4.1288, Florida Adm nistrative Code. |n DOAH Case No. 02-1905,
the issue is whether a conditional |icense should issue. In
DOAH Case No. 02-4040, the issue is whether civil penalties and
costs shoul d be assessed.

PRELI M NARY STATEMENT

On March 5, 2002, the Agency for Healthcare Adm nistration
(AHCA) filed an Adm nistrative Conplaint alleging a violation of
Title 42, Code of Federal Regul ations, Section 483.25(h)(2);
Section 400.23, Florida Statutes; and Rul e 59A 4.1288, Florida
Adm nistrative Code, in DOAH Case No. 02-1421. This action was
based on a survey conducted on Cctober 23, 2001. This conplaint
alleged in Count |I that Rosewood failed to ensure that a
resident's environment renmai ned as free of accident hazards as
possi bl e and asserted that a Cass Il deficiency should be
found. This count suggested the inposition of a $5,000 civil
penalty and an assessnent for costs related to the investigation

and prosecution of the case. Count |l alleged that two Cl ass |



deficiencies had arisen within a 60-day period and suggested
t hat Rosewood be subject to a six-nonth survey cycle and a
$6, 000 civil penalty.

On March 18, 2002, Rosewood filed a Petition for Forma
Adm ni strative Hearing. The matter was forwarded to the
Division of Administrative Hearings (D vision) where it was
filed April 10, 2002. The case was set for hearing on July 31,
2002, in Pensacola, Florida. On July 19, 2002, Rosewsod noved
for a continuance. AHCA did not object to the continuance.
Accordingly, the parties were advised to determ ne an
appropriate time for the hearing. After receiving responses
fromboth parties, the case was set for hearing on Cctober 22,
2002, in Pensacola, Florida. Subsequently, Rosewood noved to
consolidate this case with DOAH Case No. 02-3405, and in
response, an Order of Consolidation was entered.

On April 9, 2002, AHCA issued a Notice of Intent to Assign
Condi tional Licensure Status as a result of a survey conpl eted
on January 25, 2002. This action was based on alleged Cass I
viol ations of Rule 59A-4.1288, Florida Adm nistrative Code, for
failure to prevent the recurrence of a pressure sore and failure
to ensure residents received adequate supervision to prevent
acci dent s.

On April 18, 2002, a Petition for Formal Admi nistrative

Hearing was filed with AHCA. On May 9, 2002, the case was



forwarded to the Division for hearing. The case was set for
hearing on August 8 and 9, 2002, in Pensacola, Florida. On

July 30, 2002, AHCA filed a Mdtion for Conti nuance.

Accordingly, the parties were advised to determ ne an
appropriate tine for the hearing. After receiving responses
fromboth parties the case was set for hearing on October 23 and
24, 2002, in Pensacola, Florida.

On Septenber 11, 2002, AHCA filed a Mdtion to Reschedul e
Hearing. After a status conference the case was set to be heard
wi th DOAH Case Nos. 02-1421 and 02- 3405, on October 23 and 24,
2002, in Pensacol a, Florida.

On Cctober 10, 2002, counsel for AHCA signed an
Adm nistrative Conplaint, in the case of Rosewood, which was
al so based on the survey conpl eted January 25, 2002. This
conpl ai nt sought civil penalties and an assessnent for costs
related to the investigation and prosecution of the case. This
action alleged violations of Rule 59A-4.1288, Florida
Adm ni strative Code, based on allegations that Rosewood fail ed
to ensure that a resident with pressure sores received necessary
treatnent and services to pronote healing, to prevent infection
and to prevent new sores from devel opi ng.

Rosewood filed a Petition for Formal Adm nistrative Hearing
on Cctober 11, 2002. The matter was filed with the Division on

Cctober 17, 2002. It was agreed by the parties that this case,



DOAH Case No. 02-4040, woul d be consolidated with DOAH Case Nos.
02-1421, 02-1905, and 02- 3405, on Cctober 24 and 25, 2002.

On Cctober 24 the hearing comrenced on all four cases.
Rosewood noved for a recommended order of dismssal in DOAH Case

No. 02-3405, based on res judicata. AHCA objected for failure

to conply with the tinme periods set forth in Rule 28-106. 204,
Fl orida Adm nistrative Code. Accordingly, the notion was not
deci ded and evi dence was taken on all four cases.

On Cctober 31, 2002, in a tel ephonic hearing, argunent was
heard on the notion. On Novenber 7, 2002, a Recommended Order
of Dism ssal was entered in DOAH Case No. 02-3405. No final
order in this case has been provided to the Admi nistrative Law
Judge. This Recommended Order is witten on the basis that Case
No. 02-3405 has been concl uded.

At the final hearing AHCA called the follow ng w tnesses:
Marcia Steel, R N.; Sandra Corcoran, R N.; and Judith Sal petr,
R N.; and had 14 exhibits admtted into evidence. Rosewood
call ed one witness, Howard Thomas Hul sey, R N., and had seven
exhibits adm tted.

A Transcript was filed on Novenber 12, 2002. Proposed
Recommended Orders were tinely filed on Decenber 4, 2002, by
both parties and considered in the preparation of this

Recommended Order.



FI NDI NGS OF FACT

1. AHCA is the state agency responsible for |icensure and
enforcenent of all applicable statutes and rul es governi ng
nursing homes in Florida pursuant to Sections 400.021 and
400. 23(7), Florida Statutes.

2. Rosewood is a skilled nursing facility |ocated at 3107
North H Street, Pensacola, Florida, holding Iicense no.
SNF1482096, whi ch was issued by AHCA.

3. Although not found in any rule, an unofficial standard
in the industry requires that a resident be observed every two
hours. This standard, when conplied, is usually not docunented.

4. On Septenmber 11, 2001, AHCA conducted a survey of
Rosewood's skilled nursing facility. During the survey AHCA
concluded that the facility failed to ensure that a resident's
environnment remai ned as free as possi bl e of accident hazards.
Specifically, the AHCA surveyors determ ned that the door to a
bi o- hazardous storage area had been, either purposely or
i nadvertedly, propped open instead of being | ocked, and as a
result, a resident entered the area, and injured hinself with
used hypoderm c needl es stored therein.

5. Subsequently, on Decenber 6, 2001, AHCA filed a Notice
of Intent to Assign Conditional Licensure Status, based on the
Septenber 11, 2001, survey. The Notice was dated Novenber 29,

2001. The Notice had attached to it an Election of Rights for



Notice of Intent. Prior to Decenber 10, 2001, the El ection of
Rights for Notice of Intent was returned to AHCA indicating that
the factual allegations contained in the Notice of Intent to
Assign Conditional Licensure Status were not disputed.

6. On January 30, 2002, ACHA filed its Final Order. This
Final Order incorporated the Notice of Intent dated Novenber 29,
2001, and recited, that by not disputing the facts all eged,
Rosewood adnmitted the allegations of fact. However, Rosewood
did not admt the facts alleged. Rosewood nerely stated that it
woul d not contest the facts.

The Survey of Septenber 11, 2001.

7. Resident 1 suffered fromdenentia, congestive heart
failure, and epilepsy. He had a history of psychiatric
probl enms. He was known by the staff to engage in aggressive
behavior. Resident 1 was a "wanderer," which, in nursing hone
jargon, is a person who noves about randomy and who nust
constantly be wat ched.

8. On May 24, 2002, Resident 1 attenpted to get in another
resident's bed and when a staff nenber attenpted to prevent
this, he swng at her but m ssed.

9. On the norning of August 28, 2001, Resident 1 wandered
in the biohazard storage room which was unl ocked and unguar ded.
Resident 1 succeeded in opening a Sharp's container which was

used for the storage of used hypoderm c needles. His handling



of these needles resulted in nunerous puncture wounds. These
wounds could result in Resident 1 contracting a variety of
undesi rabl e di seases. Because he died soon after of other
causes it was not determned if he contracted any di seases as a
result of the needle sticks.

10. This incident resulted from Rosewood's failure to
prevent Resident 1 from wandering and from Rosewbod's failure to
ensure that harmdid not befall their resident.

The Survey of Cctober 23, 2001.

Resi dent 1A

11. Resident 1A was admtted to Rosewood on May 31, 2001.
At times pertinent he was 87 years of age. He suffered froma
urinary tract infection, cardi omyopathy, congestive heart
failure, hypertension, degenerative joint diseases, and a past
hi story of al coholism

12. On May 16, 2001, he struck a nursing assistant.

13. He was diagnosed by a psychiatrist on Cctober 31,
2001, as having denentia. He was al so known by Rosewood st aff
to be a wanderer

14. On Septenber 7, 2001, this resident engaged in conbat
with his roommate. Resident 1A was the loser in this contest.

When found by staff, his fellow conbatant had himin a headl ock



and was hitting himwith a nmetal bar. The resident suffered
facial lacerations as a result. The facility responded to this
event by noving Resident 1A into another room

15. Resident 1A's care plan of Septenber 10, 2001, had a
goal which stated that, "Resident will have no further incident
of physical abuse toward another resident by next care plan
review. "

16. On Cctober 4, 2001, the resident entered the roomof a
femal e resident and physically abused her. This resulted in
this resident's being beaten by the resident with the hel p of
another. Resident 1A suffered cuts and bruises fromthis
encounter. As a result, Rosewood inplenented a plan on Cctober
4, 2001, which required that Resident 1A be observed every 15
mnutes. Prior to that tine he was observed at | east every two
hours, which is the standard to whi ch Rosewood aspires.
Subsequent to this altercation Resident 1A was eval uated by a
psychiatrist. The psychiatrist did not reconmend additional
observati on.

17. On CQctober 5, 2001, early in the norning, the resident
was physically aggressive to staff and backed a wheel chair into
anot her resident. The other resident struck Resident 1A tw ce
in response. Later in the day, the resident also attenpted to
touch a female nurse's breasts and to touch the buttocks of a

femal e nursing assistant.



18. The evening of Cctober 21, 2001, Resident 1A was found
hol di ng anot her resident by the collar while another was hitting
the resident with his fist. Resident 1A suffered skin tears as
a result.

19. There was no docunentation that Resident 1A was or was
not observed every 15 minutes as required by the care plan of
Cctober 4, 2001. He was provided with drugs on Cctober 5, 2001,
and Cctober 17, 2001, in an attenpt to aneliorate his aggressive
behavi or; however, the pharmaceuticals provided were unlikely to
nodi fy his behavior until four to six weeks after ingestion. On
Cct ober 31, 2001, Resident 1A was di scharged because he was
determ ned to be a danger to others. He died in Novenmber 2001

Resi dent 5

20. Resident 5 was admtted to Rosewood August 15, 1998.

21. Resident 5 suffered fromatrial fibrillation,
cardi ovascul ar acci dent, and pneunoni a, anong ot her nal adi es.
Resident 5 was at high risk for accidents. Specifically, he was
at risk fromfalling. |In his adm ssions history dated
August 15, 1998, it was noted by Dr. Mchael Dupuis that, "If he
attenpts to stand, he falls."” Indeed, the record reveals dozens
of falls which occurred | ong before the survey of Cctober 23,
2001.

22. In response to Resident 5 s propensity to fall,

Rosewood tried sel f-opening seat belts while in his wheel chair,
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pl acement in a low bed, instituted a two-hour toileting
schedul e, and attenpted to increase the resident's "safety
awar eness." Rosewood prepared a "Rehabilitation Departnent
Screen” on June 8, 2001, to address the risk. This docunent
i ndi cated that the resident needed assistance wi th nost
activities.

23. In the evening of July 28, 2001, Resident 5 was found
on the floor of his room It was believed that he fell when
trying to self-transfer fromhis bed to his wheelchair. He
suffered no apparent injury.

24. On August 14, 2001, Resident 5 was found on the floor
in the bathroom He stated that he was trying to get into his
wheel chair. He was not injured.

25. On August 29, 2001, Resident 5 was found lying on his
side on the floor in a bathroom because he had fallen. He
received two small skin tears in the course of this event.

26. On Septenber 12, 2001, Resident 5 was found on the
fl oor holding onto his bed rails. He was on the floor because
he had fallen. He told the nurse that he fell while trying to
get in bed. He did not suffer any injury during this event.

27. On Cctober 5, 2001, Resident 5 was found |ying on the
floor in a puddle of blood. He had fallen from his wheel chair.

28. On Cctober 7, 2001, Resident 5 fell in the bathroom

while trying to get on the toilet.
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29. On Cctober 8, 2001, Resident 5 fell out of his
wheel chair and was found by nursing staff |lying on the floor in
a puddle of blood. This event required a trip to a hospital
energency room He received three stitches on his forehead and
suffered a skin tear on his lower left forearm

30. On Cctober 14, 2001, Resident 5 was discovered by a
nurse to be crawing on the floor. He denied falling and stated
that he was just trying to get back in his wheel chair.

31. On Cctober 20, 2001, Resident 5 fell out of his
wheel chai r.

32. Resident 5 s care plan dated Septenber 19, 2001, noted
a history of falls and injury to hinself and defined as a goal
to prevent fall with no report of injury or incidents due to
falling by the next review date. Methods to be used in
preventing falls included assistance with all transfers,
verbally cuing resident not to stand or transfer w thout
assi stance, ensurance that a call light and frequently used
itens were in reach, the provision of frequent rem nders, and
ensurance that his living areas were kept clean and free from
clutter. Rosewood inplenented a plan to encourage the resident
to ask for assistance when transferring.

33. Subsequent to the June 8, 2001, evaluation, and the
Sept enber 19, 2001, care plan, which called for a nunber of

i nterventions, as noted above, Resident 5 continued to
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experience falls. Resident 5 s feisty personality and
determnation to transfer hinself w thout assistance made it
difficult for the facility to guarantee that he did not
experience falls. It was noted by Nurse Steele that a care plan
requiring one-on-one supervision is not required by AHCA. Nurse
St eel e, however, opined that perhaps one-on-one supervision
woul d be the only practice which would guarantee that the

resi dent woul d experience no falls.

The Survey of January 22-25, 2002.

Resi dent 12

34. Resident 12 suffered from osteoporosis, denenti a,
hypert hyroi dism transient ishem c attacks, urinary tract
infection, urinary incontinence, anem a, and hypogl ycem a, anong
ot her things.

35. Resident 12 was receiving nutrition through a tube so
it was necessary to el evate the head of her bed to prevent
pneunoni a or aspiration.

36. Resident 12, at tines pertinent, was inmmobile and was
dependent on facility staff to acconplish all of her transfers
and all activities of daily living including turning and
reposi ti oni ng.

37. As evidenced by nunerous observations recorded on the
"Braden Scale for Predicting Pressure Sore Risk," Resident 12

was at risk for devel opi ng pressure sores.
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38. Resident 12 was observed by the facility with a
pressure sore on the coccyx on Decenber 21, 2001. A care plan
had been created on Cctober 12, 2002, providing that she was to
be turned every two hours, and was to be provided with a
pressure reduction mattress, and was to be kept clean and dry,
anong ot her actions. On Decenber 24, 2001, it was noted in a
"Data Collection Tool," that the resident's coccyx area was
heal ed. On January 10, 2002, it was noted in Resident 12's care
plan that the sore was fully heal ed.

39. During the survey Nurse Brown on one occasi on observed
a nmenber of the facility's staff change a dressing over the
resident's coccyx, observed the area, and determ ned that the
resi dent had a pressure sore.

40. A pressure sore is a wound, usually over a bony area,
such as the coccyx, which is caused by the wei ght of the body
conpressing flesh between the bony area and a bed or chair.
Depending on the severity of the sore, pressure sores require a
substantial period of time to heal. Pressure sores are graded
as Stages I, IIl, Ill, or 1V, with Stage |1V being the nost
severe. Nurse Brown eval uated Resident 12 as having a Stage |
pressure sore during the survey.

41. Nurse Brown observed Resident 12 on two occasi ons on
January 22, 2002; on four occasions on January 23, 2002; on two

occasi ons on January 24, 2002; and on four occasions on
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January 25, 2002. On each of these occasions Resi dent 12 was

I ying on her back with her head el evated. She also observed the
resident on several occasions sitting in a wheelchair. A

wheel chair does not cause pressure on the coccyx.

42. A "Data Collection Tool" with an assessnent date of
January 18, 2002, indicated that on January 20, 2002, that there
was present on Resident 12, a "coccyx split .25 cm superfici al
open area, left buttocks 2 cmdark gray rough area.” On
January 21, 2002, the "tool" noted, "left buttocks 2 cm open
area darkened, coccyx split .25 cmremains.” A "tool" dated
January 25, 2002, noted, "open area on coccyx 2 cm" A "tool"
dated February 1, 2002, noted "red area on buttocks" as did a
"tool" dated February 8, 2002. A "tool" dated February 15,
2002, noted, "excoriation on buttocks" and on February 22, 2002,
the notation was "red area on buttocks.” A "Data Collection
Tool " dated March 1, 2002, noted, "No open areas."

43. There is nothing in the records maintained by the
facility which indicate that subsequent to the healing of the
pressure sore on January 10, 2002, another pressure sore
devel oped on Resident 12's coccyx.

44. Nurse Brown was an expert on pressure sores and she
saw the area on the coccyx and determned it was a Stage |1
pressure sore. Thomas Hul sey, also a nurse and al so an expert

in nursing, observed the wound and concluded that it was nerely
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a skin split or excoriation likely caused by the resident's
urinary incontinence. He also observed that after a short
passage of tine the wound di sappear ed, which is inconsistent
with a pressure sore.

45, Considering the evidence as a whole, it is determ ned
that the redness described subsequent to January 20, 2002, was
sonet hing other than a pressure sore. The absence of a pressure
sore tends, noreover, to indicate that what Nurse Brown observed
was not indicative of the general care Resident 12 was typically
recei vi ng.

Resi dent 10

46. Resident 10, a wonan 64 years of age, suffered from
cardi ovascul ar acci dent, dysphasia, decubitus ulcers, urinary
tract infections, sclera derma, and seizures. She was unable to
nove any part of her body except for her left arm Two to three
caregivers were required to acconplish transfers.

47. On Decenber 16, 2001, at about 9:45 in the norning,
Lula Andrews, a certified nursing assistant, reported finding
Resident 10 lying on her side or back on the floor of her room
At 9:10 a.m Resident 10 had been seen in her bed so she could
have been residing on the floor for as |long as 35 m nutes.

Ms. Andrews and two other certified nursing assistants put her

back in her bed. Resident 10 wei ghed about 150 pounds.
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48. Ms. Andrews inquired of Resident 10 as to how she cane
to be resting on the floor and she replied she had, "blackened
out." Resident 10 did not receive injuries in connection wth
this event. The bed was three to four feet above the floor.

Ms. Andrews was suspended during an investigation of this
i nci dent.

49. Based on the evidence of record it could be deduced
that Resident 10 fell fromher bed or it could be deduced that
Ms. Andrews attenpted to transfer Resident 10 wi thout assistance
with the result that Resident 10 was dropped or deposited on the
floor due to Ms. Andrews' inability to cope with Resident 10's
bul k. The evidence of record fails to provide a basis for
resolving this question. Neither scenario demands a finding
that there was a failure to provi de adequate supervi sion.

Resi dent 16

50. Resident 16 had a di agnosis of schizophrenia. She
al so had a seizure disorder, osteoarthritis, and hypothyroidi sm
She had a care plan addressing her potential to suffer falls.

51. On May 4, 2001, Resident 16 had a grand mal seizure
while sitting on a piano stool. The 72-hour report generated by
this event noted that she was not injured and refused al
medi cat i ons.

52. On Septenber 29, 2001, Resident 16 had a seizure while

sitting on a piano bench. She was playing the piano prior to
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suffering the seizure. As a result of the seizure she fel
backward and bunped her head. She deni ed experiencing pain from
this event.

53. On Cctober 3, 2001, Resident 16 was in the visitor's
bat hroom al one, washing her hands. She was upright before the
| avat ory and when she attenpted to sit down in her wheel chair
she did not notice that it was not directly behind her.
Therefore she m ssed the seat of the wheelchair and | anded on
the floor. She sustained no injuries. Nurse Brown opined that
had Resident 16 been supervised properly this fall would not
have occurred.

54. On Decenber 17, 2001, Resident 16 was sitting on a
pi ano bench when it appeared that she was fainting. One of the
staff prevented her fromactually falling over. The resident
insisted that she was fine.

55. On January 18, 2002, a facility staff person saw
Resi dent 16 about to fall forward from her wheel chair and
attenpted to catch her before she reached the floor. The staff
menber was unsuccessful and the resident struck her head on the
floor, which resulted in a four-centineter by four-centineter
bunp on her head.

56. Resident 16's care plan required that facility staff

cl osely supervise the resident. The facility also failed to
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ensure that she received adequate doses, and properly prepared
doses of her anti-seizure nedicine.

Resi dent 20

57. Resident 20, during tines pertinent, was a nman of 96
years of age. He had a history of seizure disorder, depression,
vascul ar denentia, gastro esophageal reflux di sease, peptic
ul cer di sease, chronic obstructive pul nonary di sease, coronary
artery disease, and osteoporosis. He entered the facility on
January 22, 1995.

58. On Septenber 7, 2001, Resident 20 had a physica
encounter wth Resident 1A, who was his roommate. Resident 20
was found hol ding Resident 1A in a headl ock and was poundi ng
Resident 1A with a netal seat spine. As a result, Resident 1A
received cuts and bruises. The facility was negligent in
permtting Resident 20 access to the netal seat spine which
coul d be used as a weapon.

59. The facility staff determ ned that Resident 20 was
very territorial and that the appropriate solution would be to
assign hima roomso that he could be alone. Nevertheless, on
Novenber 10, 2001, a roommate was assigned to Resident 20. The
resi dent conpl ai ned and the new roommate was noved to anot her
room Resident 20's care plan was not revised to reflect his

territorial nature.
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60. On Decenber 28, 2001, another resident was nmoved into
Resident 20's room On January 2, 2002, Resident 20 told a
nursi ng assi stant that the new roommate was wearing his,

Resi dent 20's, clothes. The nursing assistant pacified Resident
20 and left the room Shortly thereafter Resident 20 attacked
his new roommate with a reach/grab device causing the new
roommate to receive a cut. One of the surveyors, Nurse Sal petr
opi ned that the nursing assistant was derelict in |eaving
Resident 20 alone with his new roonmate. As a result of this

i nci dent Resident 20, pursuant to the Baker Act, was sent to a
psychiatric hospital for evaluation.

CONCLUSI ONS OF LAW

61. The Division of Adm nistrative Hearings has
jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this
proceedi ng pursuant to Sections 120.57(1) and 435.07(3), Florida
St at ut es.

62. DOAH Case No. 02-1905 seeks to inpose a conditional
i cense upon the facility for violations of Rule 59A 4.1288,
Florida Adm nistrative Code. 1In these types of cases the agency
has the burden to show by a preponderance of the evidence the
facts alleged as the basis for the change in |license statutes.

Section 120.57(1)(j), Florida Statutes, and Fl ori da Depart nent

of Transportation v. J.WC. Conpany, Inc., 396 So. 2d 778 (Fla.

1st DCA 1981). DOAH Case Nos. 02-1421 and 02-4040 seek civi
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penalties and costs fromthe facility.

I n cases where the

demand is for a civil penalty, the agency has the burden of

provi ng by clear and convi nci ng evidence that the facts all ege

support a civil penalty. Departnent of Banki ng and Fi nance V.

OGsborne Stern & Conpany, 670 So. 2d 932, 935 (Fla. 1996).

63.

64.

59A4. 1288, Florida Adm nistrative Code,

Section 59A-4.128 provides as foll ows:

59A-4.128. Eval uation of Nursing Honmes and
Li censure St at us.

(1) The agency shall, at |east every 15
nmont hs, eval uate and assign a |licensure
status to every nursing home facility. The
eval uation and |icensure status shall be
based on the facility's conpliance with the
requirements contained in this rule, and
Chapter 400, Part |1, F.S.

(2) The evaluation shall be based on the
nost recent |icensure survey report,

i nvestigati ons conducted by the AHCA and

t hose persons authorized to inspect nursing
homes under Chapter 400, Part 11, F.S.

(3) The licensure status assigned to the
nursing home facility wll be either
conditional or standard. The licensure
status is based on the conpliance with the
standards contained in this rule and Chapter
400, Part 11, F.S. Non-conpliance will be
stated as deficiencies neasured in terns of
scope and severity.

Pursuant to Section 400.23, Florida Statutes,

and Rul e

nur si ng hones of the

category addressed herein are to follow certification rules and

regul ations found in Title 42 Code of Federal

Secti on 483.
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65. Title 42, Code of Federal Regul ations, Section
483. 25(h), provides as follows:
Section 483.25 Quality of care.

Each resident nust receive and the facility
nmust provide the necessary care and services
to attain or maintain the highest
practicabl e physical, nental, and
psychosoci al well -being, in accordance with
t he conprehensi ve assessnent and pl an of
care.

* * *

(h) Accidents. The facility nmust ensure
t hat - -

(2) Each resident receives adequate
supervi sion and assi stance devices to
prevent accidents.
66. In deciding this case the fact-finder is guided by the

definition of clear and convincing evidence provided in

Slomowi tz v. WAl ker, 429 So. 2d 797, 800 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) and

guoted with approval by the Florida Suprene Court in In Re
Davey, 645 So. 2d 398, 4004 (Fla. 1994).

: cl ear and convi nci ng evi dence
requires that the evidence nust be found to
be credible; the facts to which the
Wi tnesses testify nmust be distinctly
remenbered; the testinony nust be precise
and explicit and the w tnesses nust be
| acking in confusion as to the facts in
i ssue. The evidence nust be of such wei ght
that it produces in the mnd of the trier-
of -fact a firmbelief or conviction, wthout
hesitancy, as to the truth of the
al | egati ons sought to be established.
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67. Count | of DOAH Case No. 02-1421 alleged a failure to
supervi se Residents 1A and 5. Qher than evidence as to
unof ficial standards requiring two-hour observations, no
information is contained in the record which provides a witten
standard as to the requirenents of "adequate supervision.”
Certainly 24-hour supervision would prevent nost fights and
falls as alleged in Count |I. It is apparent, however, that
nonst op supervi sion woul d be cost prohibitive and woul d encroach
on the privacy of residents. Mreover, AHCA, according to Nurse
St eel e, does not require one-on-one supervision. Additionally,
there are practical and legal limtations on the degree of
restraint which may be applied to residents.

68. The issue of aggressive behavior was addressed in

Whodst ock Care Center v. HCFA, Decision No. CR623, U S.

Departnment of Health and Human Services, Departnental Appeals
Boar d, dated Novenber 1, 1999. Although this case does not
defi ne adequate supervision it does relate facts in which
supervi sion was found to be inadequate. |In Wodstock, one
resident, 70 years of age, manifested 107 epi sodes of verbal
aggressi on, 25 episodes of physical aggression, and was
conbative with caregivers on 28 occasions. Another resident
attacked his fellow residents on at |east six occasions. Mny
of these attacks were vicious and brutal and resulted in the

victinms being transported to the hospital
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69. In contrast, Resident 1A engaged in six recorded acts
of violence and cane out on the losing end of the conbat in
al nost every case. Neither Resident 1A nor his victins suffered
any serious injury. Wth the exception of the May 16, 2001,
attack, all of the incidents occurred within a seven-week period
| eading up to his discharge fromthe facility.

70. In the case of Count |, addressing Resident 1A, AHCA
did not prove by clear and convincing evidence that Rosewood
failed to supervise the resident.

71. Resident 5 experienced at |east nine docunented falls
during the period July 11, 2001, and Cctober 20, 2001. At |east
one of the falls required a trip to the hospital. The genesis
of nost of these falls was the resident attenpting to transfer
hi msel f out of the presence of caregivers, after he had been
told repeatedly not to do so.

72. AHCA suggests that the cause and effect with regard to
Resident 5 is obvious. |In other words, it is postul ated that
because Resident 5 fell at least nine tines during the tine
covered by the survey there was a | ack of supervision. For that
matter, Resident 5 s record reveals that over a four-year period
he fell dozens of tinmes. H s records also reveal a host of
interventions. Nurse Steel e had no suggestion as to how the

falls coul d have been prevented absent one-on-one supervision.
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73. The falls could have been a product of insufficient
supervi sion. They also could have been, and likely were, the
result of Resident 5 s failure to adhere to instructions to
request assistance. They could have been the result of bad | uck
or because Resident 5 was a risk taker. Because there are
expl anations for the falls other than poor supervision, it
cannot be found by clear and convincing evidence that Rosewood
failed to adequately supervise Resident 5. Therefore Count | of
DOAH Case No. 02-1421 is not proven as to Resident 5. Because
the bases for Count Il were not proven, that count is not proven
ei t her.

74. Case No. 02-4040 alleged in Count |I that the facility
failed in the case of a resident's having a pressure sore, to
provi de necessary treatnent for it, and to prevent new sores
from devel oping. This was based on the survey of January 22-25.
This allegation invol ved Resident 12. Resident 12 was observed
with a pressure sore on Decenmber 21, 2001. She was cured of
this by January 10, 2002. AHCA presented the testinony of Nurse
Brown, an expert in the field of nursing, that Resident 12
acquired a Stage Il pressure sore on her coccyx during the
course of the survey. Nurse Hul sey, also an expert, opined that
it was a skin split. The wound healed rapidly which is
inconsistent with a Stage Il pressure sore. Accordingly, AHCA

failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that Rosewood
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failed to prevent a new sore from devel oping. There being no
Class Il deficiency, Count Il also fails of proof.

75. The second Count |1 of the conplaint alleges
i nadequat e supervision in the case of Residents 10, 16, and 20.

76. Resident 10, a person who had no neans of | oconotion,
was found on the floor, when she should have been in her bed.
Thi s probably occurred because of the negligence of a nursing
assi stant; however, no certain evidence of how Resident 10 came
to be found on the floor was adduced. Accordingly, it cannot be
concl uded by clear and convinci ng evidence that Rosewood fail ed
inits duty to supervise.

77. Resident 16 had at |east three falls which staff
failed to prevent, and another during which staff attenpted, but
failed, to catch Resident 16, who was in the process of falling.
Al'l of the discussion with regard to Resident 5, in regard to
matters of one-on-one supervision, the degree of physi cal
restraint which could be used, and the privacy of the resident
apply to this resident also. Mreover, the absence of any
standards by which to judge adequacy of supervision make
eval uati ng Rosewood's efforts in this regard difficult.

78. 1t is a fact that Rosewood failed in its attenpts to
reduce seizures by failing to be adequately inforned as to the
requi rements for adm nistering seizure nmedication. This

resulted in the seizure nedication being rendered ineffectual.
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Al though this failure may have contributed to Resident 16's
spills, it does not help prove a failure to supervise. 1In any
event, AHCA failed to prove by clear and convinci ng evi dence
t hat Rosewood failed to adequately supervi se Resident 16.
79. Resident 20 was the other party in the altercation

i nvol ving Resident 1A which occurred on Septenber 7, 2002, and
whi ch i s addressed in paragraph 14, above. The facility
determ ned that Resident 20 was very territorial and determ ned
to address the matter by providing himwith a room where he
woul d be the sol e occupant.

80. On Novenber 10, 2002, Rosewood attenpted to nove
anot her person in with Resident 20. He conplained and the
facility renoved the roommate. On Decenber 28, 2001, anot her
attenpt to nove a roommate in with Resident 20 resulted in
conbat on January 2, 2002. As a result of this action, the
resident was renmoved fromthe facility pursuant to the Baker
Act, Section 394.451, et seq., Florida Statutes.

8l1. Additionally, the pleadings with regard to Resident 20

i ndicate that Resident 20 was a female and that his victimin
the Septenber 7, 2001, altercation was a female. The evidence
of record, and AHCA s Proposed Recommended Order, address
Resident 20 as a nale, |leaving the fact-finder nonplussed with
regard to whomthe pleading refers. For that reason, and the

reasons discussed in detail above, AHCA did not prove by clear

27



and convincing evidence that the facility failed to adequately
supervi se Resident 20. Accordingly, Count Il of Case
No. 02-4040 is not proven.

82. DOAH Case No. 02-1905 seeks to inpose a conditional
i cense based on the survey of January 22-25, 2002. This is
based on the sane evi dence adduced in DOAH Case No. 02-4040.
The standard of proof in this case is proof by a preponderance
of the evidence, as noted above.

83. A review of the evidence devel oped with regard to
Residents 10, 12, 16, and 20, using the |esser standard of
proof, results in the sane concl usion.

RECOMVVENDATI ON

Based upon the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, it

RECOMVENDED: That a final order be entered dism ssing,
DOAH Case Nos. 02-1421, 02-1905, and 02-4040.
DONE AND ENTERED this 8th day of January, 2003, in

Tal | ahassee, Leon County, Florida.

HARRY L. HOOPER

Adm ni strative Law Judge

Di vision of Adm nistrative Hearings
The DeSot o Bui |l di ng

1230 Apal achee Par kway

Tal | ahassee, Florida 32399-3060
(850) 488-9675  SUNCOM 278-9675
Fax Filing (850) 921-6847

www. doah. state.fl.us
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Filed with the Clerk of the
D vision of Adm nistrative Hearings
this 8th day of January, 2003.

COPI ES FURNI SHED,

Lori C. Desnick, Esquire

Agency for Health Care Adm nistration
2727 Mahan Drive, Suite 3431

Fort Knox Building, I1I

Tal | ahassee, Florida 32308

R Davis Thomas, Jr., Esquire
Broad & Casse

215 South Monroe Street, Suite 400
Post O fice Box 11300

Tal | ahassee, Florida 32302

Leal and McCharen, Agency derk

Agency for Health Care Adm nistration
2727 Mahan Drive, Miil Stop 3

Fort Knox Building 111

Tal | ahassee, Florida 32308

Valda Clark Christian, General Counse
Agency for Health Care Adm nistration
2727 Mahan Drive

Fort Knox Buil ding, Suite 3431

Tal | ahassee, Florida 32308

Rhonda M Medows, M D., Secretary
Agency for Health Care Adm ni stration
2727 Mahan Drive

Fort Knox Building, Suite 3116

Tal | ahassee, Florida 32308

NOTI CE OF RIGHT TO SUBM T EXCEPTI ONS

Al parties have the right to submt witten exceptions within
15 days fromthe date of this Recormended Order. Any exceptions
to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that
will issue the Final Order in this case.
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